
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, December 16, 2013

9:00 am

Knox Mountain Meeting Room (#4A)

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

2. Confirmation of Minutes 3 - 5

Regular AM Meeting - December 9, 2013

3. Reports

3.1 Arab Appaloosa Land Use and Servicing Options 30 m 6 - 24

The purpose of this report is to review potential
options for land use and servicing in the
Arab/Appaloosa area, as directed by Council at the
September 30, 2013 meeting.

3.2 Regional District of Central Okanagan Referral -
Regional Growth Strategy

30 m 25 - 97

To provide the Regional District of Central
Okanagan the City of Kelowna response to the
referral of the Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw.

3.3 Prioritization of Community Planning Documents 30 m 98 - 117

To advise Council of the hierarchy of planning
documents/procedures typically undertaken by City
staff and to advise which special area community
planning activities will be advanced by the Policy
and Planning Department in 2014.

4. Resolution Closing the Meeting to the Public

THAT this meeting be closed to the public pursuant to
Section 90(1) (e), (f) and (k) of the Community Charter
for Council to deal with matters relating to the following:

1



• Acquisition, Disposition or Expropriation of Land or
Improvements;

• Law Enforcement; and
• Provision of a Municipal Service.

5. Adjourn to Closed Session

6. Reconvene to Open Session

7. Issues Arising from Correspondence & Community
Concerns

7.1 Mayor Gray, re: Issues Arising from Correspondence 30 m

7.2 Meeting with Westbank First Nation 5 m

To set a date in February 2014 for a Special
Meeting with the Westbank First Nation Council.

8. Termination

2



 1 

 

 
 

City of Kelowna 
Regular Council Meeting 

Minutes 
 
 
Date: 
Location: 

Monday, December 9, 2013 
Knox Mountain Meeting Room (#4A) 
City Hall, 1435 Water Street 

 
Council Members 
Present: 

Mayor Walter Gray and Councillors Colin Basran*, Andre Blanleil*, 
Maxine DeHart, Gail Given, Robert Hobson, Mohini Singh, Luke 
Stack* and Gerry Zimmermann 

 
Staff Present: City Manager, Ron Mattiussi*; City Clerk, Stephen Fleming; 

Divisional Director, Active Living & Culture, Jim Gabriel*; 
Manager, Cultural Services, Sandra Kochan*; Manager, Grants & 
Partnerships, Lorna Gunn*; Airport Director, Sam Samaddar*; and 
Council Recording Secretary, Sandi Horning 

 
(* denotes partial attendance) 
 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Gray called the meeting to order at 8:36 a.m. 

 
2. Confirmation of Minutes 
 
Moved By  Councillor DeHart/Seconded By  Councillor Given 
 

R773/13/12/09  THAT the Minutes of the Regular AM Meeting of December 2, 2013 be 
confirmed as circulated. 

 
Carried 

 
3. Reports 
 

3.1. City of Kelowna Sister City Relationships 
 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of the existing Sister City Policy and relationships. 
 
Councillor Blanleil joined the meeting t 8:40 a.m. 
 

3



 2 

 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of the amendments being proposed to the City's Sister City Policy. 
 
Councillor Basran joined the meeting at 8:45 a.m. 
 
Staff: 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
 
Mayor Gray: 
- Provided information regarding a request for a Sister City Relationship with New Harbour 

City in China. 
 

Moved By  Councillor Given/Seconded By  Councillor Stack 
 

R774/13/12/09  THAT Council receives, for information, the report dated December 
4, 2013 from the Cultural Services Manager and the Grants and Partnerships Manager 
regarding the relationships between the City of Kelowna and its sister cities in 
Veendam (Netherlands), Kasugai (Japan) and Senanga (Zambia); 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to meet with local representatives of the Veendam, 
Kasugai and Senanga sister city organizations to gather their input and feedback about 
a possible new policy direction for establishing and managing Sister City relationships; 
 
AND THAT Council agrees to end the sister city relationship between the City of 
Kelowna and the District of Senanga and directs staff that no further work be done 
with respect to this relationship; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council directs staff to provide an update report and a proposed 
new Sister City policy after consultations with local representatives of the current 
sister city organizations have been completed. 

 
Carried 

 
4. Resolution Closing the Meeting to the Public 
 
Moved By  Councillor Singh/Seconded By  Councillor Blanleil 
 

R775/13/12/09  THAT this meeting be closed to the public pursuant to Section 90(1) 
(c), (e) and (k) of the Community Charter for Council to deal with matters relating to 
the following: 

 
• Labour Relations; 
• Acquisition, Disposition, or Expropriation, of Land or Improvements; and 
• Provision of a Municipal Service. 

 
Carried 

 
5. Adjourn to Closed Session 
 
The meeting adjourned to a closed session at 9:23 a.m. 

 
6. Reconvene Open Session 
 
The meeting reconvened to an open session at 12:03 p.m. 
  

4



 3 

 

 
7. Issues Arising from Correspondence & Community Concerns 
 

7.1. Mayor Gray, re: Issues Arising from Correspondence 
 
Mayor Gray: 
- Advised that he did not have anything specific to raise with Council. 

 
7.1.1. Mayor Gray, re:  Travel Authorization, BOABC Conference, 

Richmond, BC 
 
Moved By  Councillor Given/Seconded By  Councillor DeHart 
 

R776/13/12/09  THAT Mayor Gray be authorized to travel to Richmond, BC to attend 
the 2013 BOABC Education Conference on November 27, 2013, with expenses paid in 
accordance with Council Remuneration and Expense Bylaw No. 7547. 
 

Carried 
 

7.2. Meeting with the Okanagan Indian Band 
 

City Clerk: 
- Provided details of the requested meeting with the Okanagan Indian Band. 
 
Council: 
- Would prefer to meet with the Okanagan Indian Band during the evening of January 22, 

2014 or January 23, 2014. 
 
City Clerk: 
- Will contact the Okanagan Indian Band and report back to Council. 
 
8. Termination 
 
The meeting was terminated at 12:08 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ _____________________________________ 
Mayor                  City Clerk 
 
/slh 

5



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
December 16, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1350-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Utilities Planning Manager, Bylaw Services Manager & Urban Planning Manager 

Subject: 
 

2013-12-16 Report - Arab Appaloosa Land Use and Servicing Options 

 Report Prepared by: A. Reeder, Utilities Planning Manager, G. Wise, Bylaw 
Services Manager, A. Riley, Planner II 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the report from Utilities Planning Manager, Bylaw 
Services Manager & Urban Planning Manager dated December 16, 2013 regarding the 
Arab/Appaloosa Land Use and Servicing Options;  
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to follow Option 1 as identified in the Utilities Planning 
Manager, Bylaw Services Manager & Urban Planning Managers report, dated December 16, 
2013 regarding the Arab/Appaloosa Land Use and Servicing Options;   
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council directs staff to bring forward the proposed amendments to the I6 
Zone and to require Development Permits, to ensure consistency with the intent and purpose 
of the Kelowna 2030 OCP and Industrial-Limited designation. 
 
Purpose:  
 
The purpose of this report is to review potential options for land use and servicing in the 
Arab/Appaloosa area, as directed by Council at the September 30, 2013 meeting. 
 
1.0 Background: 
 
At the December 3, 2012, Council meeting, Council requested that staff “…report back with 
options for amending the I6 – Low-Impact Transitional Industrial Zone, to ensure consistency 
of intent and purpose with the Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan (OCP)”. 
 
Options were developed and presented to Council at the March 25, 2013 Council meeting and 
at this meeting Council resolved: 
 

THAT Council receive for information, the supplementary report from the Manager 
of Urban Land Use dated March 19, 2013, with respect to the Industrial – Limited 

6



future land use designation contained in the Kelowna 2030 – Official Community 
Plan; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to pursue Land Use Alternative 1, as identified 
below; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to initiate the process to advance Sanitary Sewer 
Connection Area #35 to a Specified Sanitary Sewer Service Area;   
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff to accept no further Rezoning applications 
for the Arab/ Appaloosa road area, pending final resolution of land uses for the 
area. 

 
On May 16, 2013, Council authorized funds necessary to create a pre-design for the water, 
sewer, and roads, and associated drainage works for the Arab/Appaloosa area.  The pre-
design works included pre-designs for the Hollywood Road extension from Hollywood Road to 
Cambrio Road, and from Clydesdale Road to the new Hollywood Road connector.  Although 
these roads will be funded through a future development, it was important to understand the 
road alignments in order to determine the scope of the proposed infrastructure required to 
support a change in zoning from the existing A1 – Agriculture 1 Zone to the I6 – Low-Impact 
Transitional Industrial Zone.  

 
At the September 30, 2013 Council meeting staff reviewed the Focus Engineering pre-design, 
the costs of the infrastructure required to meet zoning requirements, and the various service 
areas, their costs, and the  typical and maximum costs that a homeowner on Appaloosa Road 
would be required to fund if a Local Service Area were adopted. These costs were $136,181 
for a typical property and $203,358 for the largest property.  Water costs for these properties 
are $25,446 and $27122 respectively. It was agreed that the overall costs would not be 
affordable for an average homeowner, and that a petition for a Local Service Area would not 
be successful. 
 

THAT Council receive for information, the report from the Utilities Planning 
Manager dated September 30, 2013 regarding the Arab/Appaloosa Water, Sewer 
and Road Pre-design and 
Public Review; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to abandon the Local Area Service process required 
to construct the infrastructure needed to meet the I6 – Low Impact Transitional 
Zoning as costs are in excess of what will likely be considered reasonable by area 
property owners ; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT staff be directed to report back to Council with alternative 
options for future land uses in the Arab/Appaloosa area. 

 
 
2.0 Discussion: 
 
Bylaw Enforcement: 
Illegal and non-conforming land uses have long proliferated in the A1 zoned Arab/Appaloosa 
area. Complaints received by the City have chiefly been concerned with heavy truck and 

7



equipment traffic, commercial vehicle and RV storage, commercial vehicle repair and serving. 
In 2012, the number of properties involved in non-permitted uses such as outdoor storage and 
other illegal uses under the existing A1 zoning totals 19 out of 43.  One of these 19 properties 
has a Temporary Use Permit, and only one property has successfully completed the rezoning 
process to the I6 designation with significant investment and now meets the zoning 
requirements. Two of these 19 properties are presently under enforcement action with the 
balance of offenders on hold, pending resolution of the land use issues for the area. One 
other property has applied for rezoning but has not moved forward due to the costs of 
required servicing infrastructure. This property is not compliant with its current zoning. 
 
Under the A1 Zone or the I6 – Low-Impact Transitional Industrial Zone, outdoor industrial 
activities and outdoor storage are not permitted. The only zone that could potentially 
accommodate the existing non-permitted uses occurring in the Arab/Appaloosa area is the I2 – 
General Industrial Zone; however, the I2 Zone would not be compatible with adjacent 
residential properties, nor the surrounding agricultural and residential areas to the west and 
north. It is for this reason, that the I6 Zone was created: to provide for a range of low-impact 
industrial uses and to facilitate residential compatibility. At its meeting of March 25, 2013, 
Council endorsed Land Use Alternative 1 for the Arab/Appaloosa area, to retain the Industrial 
– Limited land use designation and potential for the I6 Zone. Consequently, for any of the 
options described below, addressing the long-standing illegal uses and bylaw enforcement in 
the area will be required. This report includes a proposed strategy for bylaw enforcement for 
Council’s information. 
 
Recommendation: All options should involve a bylaw enforcement strategy. 
 
Infrastructure:  
As a general principle and best practice, servicing infrastructure should be designed to meet 
the needs of the expected land use and permitted uses at the time of development. 
Otherwise the City could be required to upgrade this infrastructure at a later date at its 
expense.  Where possible, this infrastructure should be compatible with surrounding 
communities and ensure protection of the public. Upon review, staff recommended that 
community sewer, drainage, and road works be required for all new development in the 
Arab/Appaloosa area to meet the public interest.  
 
Staff are recommending a community sewer solution for all options. This is because a change 
from the existing rural residential and agricultural land uses in the area to urban residential 
and/or industrial land uses would permit a land usage or densification that would exceed the 
capacity of onsite sanitary sewer. Further, an increase in density on parcels under 1 hectare 
would be inconsistent with the OCP and could render the City ineligible for future Provincial/ 
Federal sanitary sewer grants.  
 
While the roads and drainage could be built to a lower standard, it is likely that the City will 
be required to improve  area roads at a later date, and is therefore not recommended. The 
geotechnical investigation from the August 2013 Focus pre-design has revealed that the 
existing materials are not suitable as a road base or trench backfill. As a consequence this 
material will need to be replaced with suitable fill. The surface structure will need to be 
wider and have a thicker asphalt surface and road base, and the drainage and subsurface road 
structure will need to be improved in order to be compatible with heavy truck traffic. 
Electrical road crossings should be moved underground to avoid damage to private services. 
Drainage should meet the predevelopment levels per Bylaw 7900; otherwise general taxation 

8



will need to fund future detention ponds.  Finally, the roads, sidewalks, and drainage should 
be compatible with the neighbouring residential community.  
 
Bylaw 7900 requires that buildings within the I6 zoning designation should have 225 L/s as 
available fire flow.  This requirement could be relaxed if the design and construction of a 
building met the both the B.C. Building Cost and the Fire Underwriter Survey (FUS) 
requirements. The requirements of the FUS are required to ensure that the City’s fire rating 
and insurance rates are not adversely affected. This option can be accomplished by providing 
an exemption at the time of rezoning, and then require that a restrictive covenant be placed 
on title. Should fire flows improve in the future then the restrictive covenant could be 
removed. There are some significant implications for industrial building design, in the 
absence of an available industrial 225 L/s fire flow to consider: construction costs may be 
higher than normal (i.e. sprinkler systems), the building may have structural limitations (i.e. 
windows, materials used), and may need to limited in space between firewalls, no larger than 
600 m2. Should improvements to the existing water system to meet the 225 L/s rate prove to 
be too expensive then this may be viable option for an individual wishing to rezone.  
 
Recommendation: At the time of rezoning, infrastructure should be built that matches 
the intended land use.  
 
Options:  
 
The following is a list of potential land uses and servicing options relating to the 
Arab/Appaloosa area and their implications. Other options were reviewed, but none of these 
options were considered feasible for reasons identified in the Discussion section of this 
report. 
 
Option 1:  
 
Keep the existing OCP Industrial – Limited designation for the Arab/Appaloosa area with 
potential for I6–Low-Impact Transitional Industrial Zoning. Provide an optional exemption 
for the I6 requirements for fire flow and require a restrictive covenant as a condition of 
rezoning that limits building design to available fire flows. The exemption and covenant 
will occur during the rezoning process.   
 
Any property owner wishing to rezone to the I6 Zone in the Arab/Appaloosa area will be 
required to improve the existing servicing infrastructure to match bylaw requirements for  
roads drainage, water and to provide sanitary sewer. 
 
Should infrastructure costs to upgrade the water system to meet the 225 L/s be deemed to be 
too excessive by the proponent, then an option to place a restrictive covenant required on 
title that restricts the building design. The restrictive covenant would specify that any 
building constructed would need to meet B.C. Building Code (BCBC) and the Fire Underwriter 
Survey (FUS) requirements for the available fire flow. The developer would be responsible for 
establishing existing local fire flows. Should available fire flows within the area be improved 
in the future, the property owner of a rezoned property could apply to have the covenant 
lifted.  
  
Staff are recommending that we amend the current I6 zone to ensure consistency with the 
intent and purpose of the Kelowna 2030 OCP and the Industrial – Limited land use designation. 

9



It is anticipated that these amendments would include: clarifying the I6 Zone purposes 
statement; amending and/or deleting certain permitted uses in the I6 Zone; reviewing 
minimum setback requirements of the I6 Zone; and refining certain development 
requirements for landscaping, buffering, parking, and accessory outdoor storage in the I6 
Zone. Staff would also advance amendments to require applications for Development Permits 
(DPs) for form and character in the Arab/Appaloosa area, so that opportunity to review for 
compatibility with surrounding agriculture and residential land uses could be provided.  
 
It is recommended that these I6 Zone amendments and requirements for DP applications 
should be in place prior to removing the present moratorium on accepting Rezoning 
applications in the area in order to reduce confusion and potential conflicts caused by 
changing the wording of the I6 zoning.  
 
Option 2:  
 
Change the OCP designation for the Arab/Appaloosa area to  Single / Two Unit Residential 
to allow potential rezoning for low density urban residential subdivisions (similar to the 
adjacent Sol Terra residential development).  
 
While this option would  not likely require significant upgrades to the existing water system it 
is expected that overall servicing infrastructure upgrades for potential developers would be 
higher when considering  the upgrades needed to  accommodate onsite residential 
densification (i.e., onsite private roads, sanitary sewer, sidewalks, drainage, and water).  
Further, there would  need to be significant road, drainage, and sanitary sewer upgrades on 
Appaloosa Road.  
 
The transition from the I2 zoning immediately south of Sexsmith Road to a fully residential 
use north of Sexsmith Road  would be abrupt and  would likely result  in significant future 
complaints.  As above, this option would not enable existing non-permitted businesses to 
legitimize their current land uses by pursuing rezoning, and would necessarily involve a bylaw 
enforcement strategy to deal with these illegal uses in the area, as outlined in the following 
section. 
 
Should this option be selected, an amendment to the existing OCP would be required. 
  
Option 3:  
 
Change the OCP designation for the Arab/Appaloosa area to Resource Protection and 
retain the area’s existing A1 – Agriculture 1 zoning. 
  
Under this option, servicing infrastructure upgrades would not be required, as rezoning would 
not be permitted. The existing A1 zoning is compatible with the existing surrounding 
agricultural and residential neighbourhoods.  
 
Removing the Industrial - Limited designation would be inconsistent with extensive 
consultation and input received from the Arab/Appaloosa property owners during the 
development of the recently adopted Kelowna 2030 OCP. As above, this option would also not 
enable existing non-permitted businesses to legitimize their current land uses by pursuing 
rezoning, and would necessarily involve a bylaw enforcement strategy to deal with these 
illegal uses in the area. 

10



 
3.0 Proposed Bylaw Enforcement Strategy: 
 
Once changes to the zoning and/or the OCP are complete, staff propose to undertake the 
following enforcement strategy: 
 

 Provide notification to the affected residents of the City’s intent to enforce its bylaws. 
The notification will provide information regarding permitted uses and requirements 
under the existing A1 Zone, permitted uses and requirements under the I6 Zone 
(should an application for rezoning be successful), current infractions, the rezoning 
process, and municipal ticket information. The intent of this information package is 
assist residents to become compliant with the City’s bylaws. Residents will have one 
month to indicate whether or not they wish to pursue rezoning or pursue the 
relocation of their business. 
 

 A six month grace period will be granted for those who do not reply or indicate that 
they wish to pursue either rezoning or relocation. Many of these residents are 
providing seasonal storage of vehicles.   
 

 A one year grace period will be granted to those residents who do respond to the 
notification letter and indicate that they wish to relocate their business or rezone 
their property. 
 

 Once the grace period has expired the City will follow it’s standard progressive 
enforcement procedures, starting at fines and moving to court injunctions. 

 
4.0 Communications: 
 
Communications will assist with the aforementioned public notification letter. 
 
5.0 Next Steps: 
 
Should Council agree with the recommendations within this report.  The next steps will be 
followed: 

 Staff will report back to Council with amendments to the I6 Zone  and to remove the 
existing moratorium on accepting Rezoning applications. 

 Once this first step has been undertaken,  a Notification Letter will be sent to 
residents that are not complying with  City Bylaws. 

 Staff will work with residents to either rezone and comply with our bylaws, or ensure 
compliance through the progress enforcement strategy as described above. 

 
6.0 Conclusion: 
 
While all of options will require some form of Bylaw enforcement, options 2 and 3 above do 
not accommodate any industrial land use and will not have any opportunity to comply with 
existing zoning. By providing a combination of a graduated enforcement strategy and an 
opportunity to rezone, residents will have a choice.  Staff are recommending Option 1 as it 
provides some infrastructure cost relief, without adversely affecting public safety. 
 
Internal Circulation: 

11



 
Urban Planning Manager 
Policy & Planning Manager 
Building & Permitting Manager 
Development Engineering Manager 
Bylaw Services Manager  
City Clerk 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
A. Reeder, Manager of Utilities Planning 
 
 
X 
 
 
 
G. Wise, Manager Bylaw Services 
 
 
X 
 
 
A. Riley, Planner II 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                       J.Vos, General Manager, Infrastructure 
 
Attachment 1: Overview Map #1 
 
cc: Division Director, Community Planning & Real Estate Services 
 Manager, Urban Planning  

Manager, Policy & Planning 
Director, Communications 

 Director, Civic Operations 
 Director, Financial Services 
 Director, Development Services 
  

  

12



Attachment 1: Overview Map #1 
 
 
 

Subject Area  

13



A P P A L O O S A  A R E A :  

I N F R A S T R U C T U R E ,  L A N D  U S E ,  A N D  

B Y L A W  E N F O R C E M E N T  S T R AT E G Y  

14



 
S U B J E C T  A R E A :  

15



B A C K G R O U N D  

• Several applications have been received to rezone from A1 – Agriculture 1 to 
I6 – Low-Impact Transitional Industrial, consistent with the 2030 OCP. 
 
•To rezone the lands from A1 – Agriculture 1, improvements are required to 
the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water system, and road network. 
 
 

• December 3, 2012 – Council:  
• directed staff to report back with options for amending the I6 Zone to 
ensure consistency with the 2030 OCP. 
• expressed concern regarding required servicing costs with rezoning. 
• directed that no further rezoning applications for I6 zoning be accepted, 
pending completion of I6 zoning amendments. 

 
 

16



B A C K G R O U N D  

 
• March 25, 2013 – Council: 

• endorsed the land use option to retain the existing Industrial – Limited 
land use designation and potential for rezoning to the I6 zone. 
• acknowledged I2- General Industrial zoning as generally incompatible 
with surrounding residential and agricultural land uses.  
• directed staff  to initiate the LAS planning process. 

 
• September 30, 2013 – Council:  

• received the results of the servicing area pre-design and prospective 
costs. 
• in consideration of the high costs, directed staff to abandon an LAS 
process, and review other land use & servicing options.  

17



K E Y  P O I N T S  

•I2 zone was deemed to be incompatible with surrounding residential areas 
and agricultural areas, and the I6 acknowledged as an appropriate transition 
to residential.  
 
•Non-permitted uses in the Arab/Appaloosa area have primarily involved 
outdoor storage of equipment and vehicles. Outdoor storage is not a 
permitted use in the A1 or I6 zones. 
 
 

18



K E Y  P O I N T S  

 
• Staff have reviewed whether lower infrastructure standards could be 
applied. While it is possible, it is not recommended as the City would likely 
need to pay for upgrades at a later date, and could potentially create a 
precedent for other areas.  
 

• Upfront requirements for fire flow could be reduced if restrictive covenants 
restricting building design were put in place. This would place limits on the 
building design and increase building costs. This could be an option given to 
the developer. 
 

19



O P T I O N  1 -  ( R E C O M M E N D E D )  

1. Keep the existing OCP Industrial – Limited land use designation, and 
potential for rezoning to the I6 zone.  

2. Provide an option to reduce the fire flow requirements by restricting 
building construction & registering a restrictive covenant. 

3. Enforce the existing land use bylaws as per strategy 
      
Comments: 
• Consistent with 2030 OCP and related public consultation process. 
• Would enable some non-permitted uses to legalize if contained in building. 
• Compatible with adjacent and surrounding land uses. 
• Provides opportunity for change and improving property values. 
• Infrastructure costs will remain high, although some flexibility is available 
with water requirements. 

20



O P T I O N  2  

1. Change the OCP land use designation to Single/Two Unit Residential 
2. Enforce the existing land use bylaws as per strategy 
      
Comments: 
• Inconsistent with 2030 OCP and related public consultation process. 
• Compatible with surrounding residential and agricultural land uses. 
• Potential conflicts between residential and I2 zoning south of Sexsmith Rd. 
• Does not enable non-permitted uses to legalize. 
• Provides opportunity for change and improving property values. 
• Infrastructure costs will likely be higher than Option 1, as additional onsite 
systems would be required.  

21



O P T I O N  3  

1. Change the OCP land use designation to Resource Protection and retain 
existing A1 agricultural zoning. 

2. Enforce the existing land use bylaws as per strategy 
      
Comments: 
• Inconsistent with 2030 OCP and related public consultation process. 
• Compatible with surrounding residential and agricultural land uses. 
• Does not enable non-permitted uses to legalize. 
• Does not provide opportunity for change and improving property values. 
• No related infrastructure costs. 
 

22



B Y L AW  S T R AT E G Y   

As it has been deemed that the I2 zone would not be an appropriate zone for 
the Arab/Appaloosa area due to land use impacts and compatibility, there are 
outstanding bylaw conformance issues that will need to be considered with 
the recommended land use options.  
 
The following are the steps staff are proposing to undertake: 
 

• Notification will be sent to affected residents 
• A six month grace period for residents who do not comply or indicate 
that they have no interest in rezoning or relocating. 
• A one year grace period for residents who respond to the notification 
who would like to rezone or relocate their business. 
• Follow standard progress enforcement procedures 

23



N E X T  S T E P S  

• Should Council support Option 1: 
 

• Amendments to the I6 zone & to require DP applications (prior 
to removing moratorium on accepting rezoning applications).  
 

• Notification letter to non-compliant properties. 
 

• Work with residents to rezone and/or comply with City bylaws, 
and implement standard progress enforcement strategy. 

24



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
December 16, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

0705-25 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Danielle Noble-Brandt, Department Manager – Policy & Planning 
 

Subject: 
 

2013-12-16 Report - RDCO Referral  RGS 

Prepared by: Gary Stephen, Long Range Planning Manager 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives the report on the RDCO Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw from the 
Department Manager, Policy and Planning dated December 16, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Council supports the Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw subject to amendments as 
outlined in Attachments 3, 4 & 5 of the report dated December 16, 2013. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide the Regional District of Central Okanagan the City of Kelowna response to the 
referral of the Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw. 
 
Background: 
 
The Regional District of Central Okanagan (RDCO) has been working on the update of the 
Regional Growth Strategy (RGS) since early 2010, as the existing version was adopted in 2000.  
As per the Local Government Act, the “purpose of a RGS is to promote human settlement 
that is socially, economically, and environmentally healthy and that makes efficient use of 
public facilities and services, land and other resources”.   
 
The Regional Board gave the updated RGS Bylaw first reading on October 28, 2013 and 
formally referred Bylaw No. 1336 to the City of Kelowna for consideration and acceptance on 
October 30, 2013 (RDCO submission letter is provided in Attachment 1).  The City of Kelowna 
has up to 60 days from the receipt of the submission letter to respond, with a deadline of 
December 30, 2013.  Following the adoption of the RGS, the City will have up to two (2) years 
to update the Regional Context Statement in our OCP to indicate how the OCP reflects and 
implements the RGS.  That Regional Context Statement must be submitted to the Regional 
Board for their review. 
 

25



A Regional Growth Strategy must cover a period of at least 20 years from the time of its 
initiation and must include the following: 
 

(i) a comprehensive statement on the future of the region, including the social, economic   
and environmental objectives of the board in relation to the regional district; 

(ii)  housing 

(iii) transportation 

(iv) regional district services 

(v)  parks and natural areas 

(vi) economic development 

(vii) reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
 
Accordingly, a RGS is a high level regional planning document that sets the framework and 

legislative actions for municipal partners.  Therefore, this Plan has significant influence on 

City land use and related policies - Staff have reviewed the Plan being mindful of that scope.  

Upon thorough evaluation, three principal areas of concern have been identified: 

A. Policy statements that are a departure from City of Kelowna land use 

settlement/growth patterns and those that do not reflect current processes or are 

not feasible (Attachment 3); 

 

B. Policies or statements that ultimately fall within the authority of a municipality 

and are considered redundant to be stated in the context of a RGS document 

(Attachment 4); 

 

C. Policies that propose new programs or services whereby funding and/or resources 

have not been confirmed or investigated for feasibility (Attachment 5). 

Staff recommend that the RGS be accepted by Council subject to amendments.  The policies 
of concern are addressed in further detail in the following sections. 
 
A. Policies Departing from Current Policy Framework  

As written, there are policies within the RGS that provide direction on land use, water 
resources, climate action, and transportation matters that have the opportunity to be 
clarified.  Each policy and related concern are detailed in Attachment 3.    
 

B. Policies within the Scope of Municipal Authority 
 

As per the Community Charter, the role of a municipality includes: 
 

(a) providing for good government of its community 

(b) providing for services, laws and other matters for community benefit 

(c) providing for stewardship of the public assets of its community, and 

(d) fostering the economic, social and environmental well-being of its community. 

 

26



Comparatively, BC’s system is distinct from others in its use of Regional Districts. They exist 
to meet various service needs that neither municipalities, nor the Province are particularly 
well suited to address.  The primary role for a Regional District is determined by its member 
jurisdictions and act only in response to the expressed needs, interests and instructions of 
their members. 
 
With this in mind, the City of Kelowna has a governance structure that delivers on the 
purposes as listed above which orchestrates funding, programs, services, policies, and 
partnerships to meet those objectives.  The policies identified in Attachment 4 have been 
raised because they are believed to be managed by individual local governments or through 
sub-regional partnerships and create a level of ambiguity in terms of authority and 
accountability. 

 
C. Policies Introducing New Programs or Services 

 
While the mandate of a Regional Growth strategy must be visionary in anticipating needs and 
evolving approaches, policies must acknowledge the current fiscal reality of local municipal 
members.  Attachment 5 summarizes policies that would likely introduce a new program or 
service that is not currently the purview of either the City or the Regional District.  In turn, 
these new programs or coordinated activities would require resources, funding, and clarity of 
scope of authority.  These have been raised to either: have the wording clarify intent, or to 
initiate further discussion on implementation expectations. 
 
In summary, the City acknowledges the important role of the Regional District in addressing 
and coordinating growth opportunities and challenges of the Okanagan Valley.  Through this 
response, the City endeavors to work effectively with the Regional District by ensuring open 
communication, an exchange of opinions, information and cooperation.    
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Infrastructure Division Director 
Utilities Planning Manager 
Transportation and Mobility Manager 
Director Regional Services / Strategic Services 
Executive Director of Business Development 
Manager – Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services 
Sustainability Coordinator 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Local Government Act, Part 25, Division 2 – Section 857 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Local Government Act -Section 857(4) states that:  
 
(4) After receiving a proposed regional growth strategy under subsection (3), each affected 

local government must: 
 

27



a) review the regional growth strategy in the context of any official community plans and 
regional growth strategies for its jurisdiction, both those that are current and those in 
preparation, and in the context of any other matters that affect its jurisdiction, and  

 
b) subject to an extension under section 858 (3), within 60 days of receipt either 

 
i)  accept the regional growth strategy, or 

ii) respond, by resolution, to the proposing board indicating that the local government 
refuses to accept the regional growth strategy. 

 
(5) An acceptance under subsection (4) (b) becomes effective 
 

(a) when all affected local governments have accepted the regional growth strategy, or 

(b) at the end of the period for acceptance or refusal under that subsection if, at the end 
of that period, all affected local governments have not accepted the regional growth 
strategy. 

 
(6) If an affected local government fails to act under subsection (4) (b) within the period for 

acceptance or refusal, the local government is deemed to have accepted the regional 
growth strategy. 

 
(7) In the resolution under subsection (4) (b) (ii), the affected local government must indicate 
 

(a) each provision to which it objects, 

(b) the reasons for its objection, and 

(c) whether it is willing that a provision to which it objects be included in the regional 
growth strategy on the basis that the provision will not apply to its jurisdiction, as 
referred to in section 853 (2). 

 
(7.1) An affected local government is deemed to have accepted any provision of the regional 

growth strategy to which it does not indicate an objection under subsection (7). 
 

Existing Policy: 
 
Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 (2011) 
Regional Growth Management Strategy Bylaw No. 851 (2000) 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
  

28



Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
Gary Stephen, Long Range Planning Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion 
Danielle Noble-Brandt 
Department Manager – Policy & Planning 
 
Attachment 1:  2013-10-30 Submission of CORD Growth Strategy Bylaw 
Attachment 2:  RGS Bylaw – Schedule A 
Attachment 3:  RGS Referral Comments – Bylaw 1336 
Attachment 4:  Policies Impacting Regional Districts vs. Municipalities 
Attachment 5:  Policies Introducing New Activity, Program, or Projects 
 
cc:  City Manager 

Deputy City Manager 
Divisional Director – Community Planning & Real Estate 
Infrastructure Division Director 
Utilities Planning Manager 
Transportation and Mobility Manager 
Director Regional Services / Strategic Services 
Executive Director of Business Development 
Manager – Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services 
Sustainability Coordinator 

 

  

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



Attachment 3 – RGS Referral - Policy Comments 
 
Section 3.1: Our Regional Vision 
 

Staff Comment: The regional vision does not reference land use and growth patterns. 
 

Section 3.2.1: Our Land (Page 10) 
 
Policy .1   “Support logical and sequential growth patterns that minimize urban encroachment into 

rural areas;” 
 

Staff Comment: The original intent of Regional Growth Strategies was to be a growth management 
tool and one of the primary functions was to avoid urban sprawl. The reference to “encouraging 
growth in existing settlement areas prior to expanding into areas that require new services” has 
been eliminated which is a powerful statement that summarizes the purpose of this regional 
planning document.   
 

Policy .2   “Ensure proposals on lands for new growth areas can address, to the satisfaction of the 
affected local government(s), the following key areas: 

 Full costs and impacts, including installation, operation and life maintenance of road, 
water and sewer infrastructure: . . . “ 

 
Staff Comment: Stipulating that new growth areas recover full costs and impacts (including 
installation, operation and life maintenance of road, water and sewer infrastructure) is not 
considered realistic.  The DCC program as regulated by the Province limits what local governments 
can recover and an assist factor is nearly always included in the DCC funding formulas.  It is 
recognized that full cost recovery is a goal, but financing growth approvals will be determined by 
the DCC program established by each municipality. 
 

Suggested rewording: Ensure proposals on lands for new growth areas can address “wherever 
possible and” . . .  

 
Policy .9 
This policy goes well beyond a regional statement and will vary depending on the individual 
municipal planning. Suggest removal.  

 
 
Section  3.2.3: Our Water Resources (Page 13) 
 
Policy .2   “Encourage the development of water source protection plans to improve drinking water 

quality, quantity and timing of flow of water sources.” 
 

Staff Comment: Improvements to drinking water quality and capacity could be compromised by 
uncontained growth.  This needs to be considered in the context of the overall goal of “avoiding 
urban sprawl”. While the regional role in water source protection plans is critical, it is 
recommended that this policy focus on source protection and responsible water reduction 
measures. 

 
 

92



Policy .6  “Coordinate water resources planning to prepare for adapting to impacts of climate 
change and drought conditions; support and encourage continued research on the 
Region’s water supply to minimize impacts on future population projections;” 

 
Staff Comment: The Okanagan Basin Water Board would be the more appropriate agency to 
address impacts of climate change on the protection of water sources.   
 

Suggested rewording: “Support and encourage continued research on the Region’s water 
supply to prepare for adaptation to climate change and minimize impacts on future 
population projections.” 

 
Policy .7    “Explore opportunities to utilize recycled water for landscaping and other uses within 

new and redevelopment projects.” 
 

Staff Comment: The use of recycled water is a sensitive issue for water purveyors, a number of 
whom are privately owned and operated.  This open-ended policy statement leaves too many 
questions as to what action is to be taken to deliver on the goal/objective. One example is that 
there is an expectation that a bylaw be developed to mandate the use of recycled water in all new 
development areas. This could result in a significant increase in the infrastructure required for a 
dual system for delivery of non-potable water for irrigation. 

 
Section 3.2.7: Our Climate (Page 17) 
 

 The Synopsis states “The current land use patterns, forecasted population growth and 
identified residential projects in the Region will make it difficult to achieve the provincial 
target of 33% reduction in GHG emissions by 2020.”   

 
Staff Comment: It is suggested that this statement be amended to create a more positive 
connotation as follows: “. . . will make it ambitious to achieve . . .” 

 
Policy .1  “Reduce GHG emissions by 80% from 2007 levels by 2050;” 

 
Staff Comment: It is recognized that the Local Government Act requires municipalities and 
regional districts to have a GHG target in OCP’s and the RGS. The City of Kelowna OCP has set the 
target to reduce GHG’s by 33% from 2007 levels by 2020, as have other member municipalities.  A 
commitment to the year 2050 is significantly outside the City’s OCP 2030 time horizon.  The 
proposed RGS policy stipulates an 80% reduction by 2050 on the basis of a consultant analysis as to 
the viability of achieving the 33% goal by 2020. The City cannot commit to this new target and 
amend the existing OCP target without further analysis.  

 
Policy .6 “Pursue regional initiative to prepare plans, strategies, programs and assessments that 

address greenhouse gas reduction, energy conservation and climate change adaptation;” 
 

Staff Comment: This policy provides for additional regional activity to prepare GHG related plans, 
strategies, programs and assessments and a role that could require increased budget that has not 
been agreed to by the regional partners.  The City has already completed a Climate Action Plan. 

 
  

93



Section 3.2.9: Our Transportation (Page 19) 
 
In the goal & synopsis it refers to “ . .  accessible, affordable and efficient transportation 

system . .”. 
 

Staff Comment: Include the term ‘safer’ as a stated goal. 
 

Other Staff Comments on Section 3.2.9:  
 

In general, Section 3.2.9 should remain at the regional level and refer to interface areas and inter-
municipal networks that connect communities. 

 
Policy .6 “Integrate transportation and land use planning to give priority attention to the 

transportation routes for the movement of goods, aggregate, heavy vehicles and 
emergency and disaster response; in the establishment of road networks and redirect 
routes away from schools and residential areas where feasible.” 

 
Staff Comment: The City of Kelowna transportation priority is to promote active transportation 
and transit ahead of the movement of goods.  Accordingly, this policy could require an OCP 
amendment to reverse this transportation priority. It is suggested that the policy be reworded as 
follows:  
 

“Place increased emphasis on sustainable modes of transportation (walking, cycling, 
transit) while maintaining automobile, commercial goods and emergency vehicle 
mobility.”  An additional sentence would then be necessary to address the redirection of 
heavy vehicle traffic away from schools and residential areas.” 

 

94



Attachment 4 
 

Policies Impacting Regional District vs. Municipal Responsibilities 
 

Section 3.2.1 Our Land 
 
 Policy .2 – new growth areas to address full costs of infrastructure etc 
 Policy .7 – provision of services and infrastructure 
 Policy .8 – protection of ALR lands 
 Policy .9 – promote urban / village centres with a range of amenities / services 
 Policy .11 – improve hazard identification and mapping 
 

Suggested wording: “Coordinate and share information with other regional 
partners on hazard identification . . . “ 

 

 Policy .12 – improve hazard and resiliency planning 
 

Suggested wording: “Coordinate and share information with other regional 
partners and provincial agencies . . .” 

 

 Policy .13 – appropriate supply of land for . . .  
 
Section 3.2.2 Our Economy 
 
 Policy .4 – develop vital and dynamic communities / vibrant village & town centres 
 Policy .11 – efficient development application processes 
 Policy .12 – land development patterns that support a diverse regional economy 
 
Section 3.2.3 Our Water Resources 
  
 Policy .1 – maintain and upgrade water infrastructure 
 Policy .8 – use of recycled water for landscaping etc. 
 
Section 3.2.4 Our Health 
 

Policy .1 – promote and support physical activity, sense of place, social interaction, 
neighbourliness 

Policy .2 – strengthen healthy living focused on physical activity 
Policy .4 – active transportation initiatives 
Policy .6 – promote community health and safety through investments . . . 
Policy .9 – incorporate Healthy Built Environment principles in to plans 
Policy .10 – promote joint use agreements, project, programs, and facilities with SD 23 
Policy .11 – collaborate with SD 23 on location and design of schools 
 

Section 3.2.5 Our Food 
 
 Policy .2 – preserve and support sustainable agriculture activities and land base 
 Policy .3 – coordinate with the ALC / MoA – consistency of bylaws, policies, regulations 
 Policy .4 – promote urban agriculture 
 Policy .5 – use of public lands for community gardens 

Policy .7 – promote the use of agriculture and ALR lands for food production and 
ancillary processing 

95



 
Section 3.2.6 Our Housing 

 
Policy .1 – encourage a variety of housing types, densities, choices and affordability 
Policy .3 – support new growth areas that include sustainable community and 

neighbourhood design – walkable / housing affordability and choice 
Policy .4 – advance affordable housing initiatives and increase the amount of transition 

and supportive housing 
 
Section 3.2.7 Our Climate 
 

Policy .2 – support innovative approaches and technologies to conserve energy / 
reduce GHG’s 

Policy .4 – promote and support renewable energy infrastructure 
Policy .5 – encourage design / retrofitting of neighbourhoods to reduce travel 

distance, etc 
Policy .7 – develop mixed use compact communities 
Policy .8 – encourage land use and transportation infrastructure to withstand climate 

change and natural hazard impacts 
 

Section 3.2.8 Our Ecosystems 
 
Policy .5 – ensure a mix of parkland and open space to protect regionally significant 

ecosystems 
 

Section 3.2.9 Our Transportation 
 
Policy .5 – promote transit oriented development as well as active transportation in 

urban areas 
Policy .6 – integrate transportation and land use planning 
Policy .7 – encourage new education facilities to be located where they can be 

accessed by sustainable modes of transportation 
Policy .8 – prioritize funding for transit and non-motorized improvements 
Policy .10 – encourage major employers to create and support active transportation 

options 
Policy .11 – collaborate with SD 23 on safe routes to school 
 

Section 3.2.10 Our Governance 
 

Policy .2 – promote effective governance / service delivery by being transparent, 
accountable and accessible 

Policy .4 – coordinate long range land use, infrastructure and financial planning 
Policy .5 – maintain effective services 
Policy .6 – include assessment of social and economic benefits of arts, culture, tourism 

and recreation in decisions on land use 

96



Attachment 5 
 

Policies Introducing New Possible Activity, Program or Projects 
 

Section 3.2.3 Our Water Resources 
 
 Policy .2 – water source protection plans 
 Policy .4 – integrated watershed planning 
 Policy .6 – water resource planning / adaptation to climate change 
 
Section 3.2.4 Our Health 
 
 Policy .3 – regional partnership with Interior Health on population health monitoring 
 Policy .7 – healthy community strategy 
 
Section 3.2.5 Our Food 
 
 Policy .1 – regional agricultural strategy 
 
Section 3.2.7 Our Climate 
 

Policy .6 – plans, strategies, programs and assessments on GHG reduction 
 
Section 3.2.8 Our Ecosystems 
 
 Policy .1 – management of regional biodiversity practices 

Policy .8 – explore funding mechanisms to support regionally significant natural areas, 
open space and parkland acquisitions 

Policy .11 – research on local species at risk 
Policy .12 – develop regional conservation, watershed and other ecosystem-based 

plans and strategies 
 

97



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
12/16/2103 
 

File: 
 

0100-01 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Danielle Noble-Brandt, Policy and Planning Department Manager 

Subject: 
 

Prioritization of Community Planning Documents 

 Report Prepared by: Tracy Guidi, Sustainability Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives for information, the report from the Department Manager of Policy and 
Planning, dated December 16, 2013, regarding the prioritization of special area community 
plan activities. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To advise Council of the hierarchy of planning documents/procedures typically undertaken by 
City staff and to advise which special area community planning activities will be advanced by 
the Policy and Planning Department in 2014. 
 
Background: 
 
Vibrant, thriving communities are the result of carefully executed strategic plans which 
balance the long term growth needs of the community through responsive planning processes 
(see Appendix A: The Role of Planning for details).  Responsible community planning is vital 
to the creation of sustainable, safe, healthy and secure urban environment1 and ensures: 

 Economic stability and opportunities 

 Areas for infrastructure investment 

 Stability in land use 

 Compatible interfaces 

 Improved performance 

 Protected resources 

 Coordinated future development 

 Orderly growth 

 A community envisioned by its citizens 

                                                           
1
 Canadian Institute of Planners, 2013.  What is Planning?  http://www.cip-

icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp  

98

http://www.cip-icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp
http://www.cip-icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp


 
The establishment of community plans and subsequent implementation is legislated through 
the Provincial government Local Government Act and Community Charter (see Appendix B: 
Legislation and the Hierarchy of Plans for details). The Corporate Plan establishes a Planning 
Project Timeline (see Appendix C: Project Planning Cycle) to link the preparation and/or 
updating of major recurring interdepartmental plans such as the OCP, and other plans into a 
multi-year timeline to achieve orderly resource (human and capital) allocation and timely 
project delivery. In addition, Council Policy 247: Hierarchy of Plans establishes Kelowna’s 
hierarchy of planning documents.2   
 
Each year, many shorter term community planning issues that fall outside the scope of the 
operational/core activities listed in the Planning Project Timeline are identified.  While it is 
critical to maintain the established Timeline for the major recurring interdepartmental plans, 
it is necessary to maintain capacity and resources to respond to the shorter term issues of a 
growing community.  It is important to acknowledge that the steps that a local government 
takes, the processes through which decisions are made, and the allocation of staff time 
reflect the priorities set out by Council through the Official Community Plan and other 
bylaws. 
 
Accordingly, Policy and Planning (P&P) has created an internal ‘Prioritization Matrix’ tool to 
evaluate shorter term projects and prioritize planning activities to ensure projects are 
successfully completed and implemented.  This is not unlike Council Policy 352: Sustainable 
Municipal Infrastructure which was established to aid in the prioritization of capital 
infrastructure projects.  
 
The Prioritization Matrix evaluates a series of potential Policy and Planning Projects that 
could be pursued in 2014.  It provides a method of ranking the proposed projects in terms of 
their “fit” with a number of parameters or evaluation considerations.  The matrix provides an 
opportunity for senior management and Council to understand the relative importance of 
these projects from a Policy staff perspective and to provide input based on their view of the 
highest priorities. 
 
To establish alignment with Council and corporate priorities and to determine the highest 
value back to the community, the matrix utilizes a framework of criteria to arrive at a strong 
indication of priority: 
 

  

                                                           
2
 City of Kelowna, 2011.  Council Policy 247: Hierarchy of Plans.  

http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Pla
ns%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf  

99

http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Plans%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Plans%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf


Evaluation Consideration 
 

Maximum Points 

 Total number of population affected 10 

 Implementation of OCP Goals 15 

 Execution of Council priorities 10 

 Implementation of Corporate values 10 

 Ability to guide development and infrastructure 
decisions in response to the multiple bottom 
line 

25 

 External Considerations (ie. Legislative 
requirements, partnership responsiveness) 

5 

 Responsiveness to New and Emerging Issues 15 

 Cost Effectiveness 10 

Total Points Available 100 
 
Utilizing this matrix, Staff have arrived at a list of recommended projects (see Appendix D: 
Project Prioritization Matrix) in a sequence that will be resourced to deliver on the higher 
priority items.  This sequence of special planning projects will give Staff and the development 
community certainty with respect to timing and give guidance to development applications 
(either in-stream or pending) with respect to expected completion of plans that may inform a 
particular development or development area. 
 
Ultimately the use of this matrix arrives at a sequence of planning activities to mobilize 
resources into the most impacted areas, aid current development approvals for those areas 
under the most pressure, and anticipate larger impact development proposals for areas of the 
City known to have interest. 
 
The implementation sequence for 2014 is: 

o Rutland Renaissance 
o Hospital Phase 1 
o Hospital Phase 2 
o Community Amenities 
o Capri 
o Downtown/Cultural Area Redevelopment Plan 
o North End / Industrial 
o Okanagan Indian Band 

 
The Project Prioritization Matrix meets with Council’s support of the continued use of the 
multiple bottom line framework as outlined in the Moving Opportunities Forward, Council 
Focus 2012 - 2014.  P&P Staff continue to seek a balanced approach; incorporating economic, 
social, cultural and environmental considerations to ensure the community’s long term 
growth, prosperity and resiliency.   
 
Internal Circulation: 
Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate Div. Director 
General Manager, Infrastructure 
Director/Approving Officer, Subdivision, Agriculture and Environment Services 
Manager, Urban Planning 
 
 

To begin implementation on these 

projects 

Projects will be considered as 

resources become available 

100



Existing Policy: 
Council Policy 352: Sustainable Municipal Infrastructure 
Council Policy 247: Hierarchy of Plans 
Corporate Plan: Planning Project Timeline 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
Danielle Noble-Brandt, Policy and Planning Department Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Doug Gilchrist, Division Director of CP & RE  
 
 
Attachments: 
Appendix A: The Role of Planning 
Appendix B:  Corporate Plan - Project Planning Timeline 
Appendix C:  Legislation and the Hierarchy of Plans 
Appendix D:  Project Prioritization Matrix 
 
cc:  
Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate  
General Manager, Infrastructure 
Director/Approving Officer, Subdivision, Agriculture and Environment Services 
Manager, Urban Planning 

  

101



APPENDIX A:  The Role of Planning 
 
Planning, as defined by the Canadian Institute of Planners (CIP), is “the scientific, aesthetic, 
and orderly disposition of land, resources, facilities and services with a view to securing the 
physical, economic and social efficiency, health and well-being of urban and rural 
communities.1” 
 
Within the municipal context, planning deals with land use, social and community services, 
housing, cultural and heritage resources, economic development, finance, environment, 
transportation and infrastructure.2  Planning can influence economic development, housing 
design, parks and recreation provision, public transportation, and community pride.  Through 
these activities, community planning can enhance citizen quality of life, citizen engagement 
in Council decision-making, and uphold confidence in community decisions that are guided by 
a community-endorsed framework. 
 
Under today’s environment, the shift to a more flexible, performance-based planning system 
under the larger municipal governance structure has been implemented with the following 
objectives: 

 Enhance public sector efficiency and accordingly, increase public confidence; 

 Ensure competitive arrangements and feasibility for progressive development 
proposals through the removal of outdated regulation; 

 Provide clear and consistent guidelines which allow for the development of 
competitive industry; 

 Work with the private sector to identify and collaborate on efficiency and consistency 
of development proposal reviews. 

 
The Policy and Planning (P&P) department leads many of the Community Planning initiatives.  
The department’s role is to inform, consult, collaborate, research, monitor and 
prepare/update plans, policy, guidelines and bylaws to: create vital and resilient 
communities and guide development and infrastructure improvements that move the city 
towards the future envisioned by the citizens, as expressed in Council-endorsed community 
plans, while honoring the City's heritage and unique culture.   With a long-term and holistic 
view, staff identify impacts of alternative courses of action while taking a balanced approach 
that acknowledges economic, social, cultural and environmental considerations.  
 
Developing a community without well defined Council/Community endorsed plans ultimately 
risks long term success of a community.  As author Jane Jacobs states “designing a dream city 
is easy; rebuilding a living one takes imagination.”  Examples of short term development 
planning without long term vision can be witnessed throughout much of North America.  
Urban sprawl, strip malls, box stores, and pavement dominate many landscapes and don’t 
contribute to a sense of place and require expensive investments in infrastructure to support 
them.  Surrey, BC’s population, for example, increased 18.6% between the 2006 and 2011 

                                                           
1
 Canadian Institute of Planners, 2013.  What is Planning?  http://www.cip-

icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp  
2
 Ministry of Community, Sport and Social Development, 2013.  Municipal Planning.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/municipality/municipal_planning.htm  

102

http://www.cip-icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp
http://www.cip-icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/3FC2AFA9F72245C4B8D2E709990D58C3/template.asp
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/municipality/municipal_planning.htm


census, double that of the Greater Vancouver Region.3  The City is in the process of updating 
its decade old OCP “in ways that maximize the efficient use of urban land while minimizing 
the impacts of change in existing neighbourhoods,4 and avoid the sprawl the community has 
been known for in the past.   
 
Portland, Oregon, on the contrary, leads the way as a well planned, sustainable City in 
America.  The City uses city wide strategic and comprehensive land use planning; 
neighborhood, district, economic, historic and environmental research, planning and urban 
design5 to create a well-designed city with distinctive neighborhoods, a vibrant downtown, 
successful employment areas and an engaged community.6 
 
Locally, policies, plans, and guidelines provide a direct link to current planning and 
development approvals.  These documents help reduce speculation, provide certainty and 
provide a high degree of confidence and expectation for the community.  In addition, staff 
informs and consults on how development applications meet long term community objectives.   
 
One of the most recent examples that has sparked development is Kelowna’s Downtown Plan, 
adopted by Council in 2012.  Kelowna residents feel the downtown is the heart and hub of the 
city. The downtown is key to Kelowna’s unique and authentic identity and to attracting 
residents, tourists and investment.7   Since the Downtown Plans adoption, the area has not 
only seen the revitalization of Bernard Avenue, but it has also experienced exciting new 
opportunities that will enhance this core area, creating new economic and social 
opportunities while reducing the community’s environmental footprint. Projects underway 
include Interior Health’s project to co-locate some of its community services and programs 
that when complete will bring nearly 800 jobs into the downtown area and will also stimulate 
business, transit and housing in the area.  Development is complete for the Worman 
Commercial building at 265 Lawrence Ave., which took advantage of the Revitalization Tax 
Exemption Program8 (an outcome of the Downtown Plan).  Monaco development at the corner 
of Doyle and St. Paul was recently approved and will help accommodate some the 4,800 new 
community residents expected by 2030.9 
 
Following the policies and plans as approved also provide security for the City in terms of 
infrastructure implementation and upgrades.  Deviating from the plans has the potential to 
increase infrastructure costs and/or shift implementation timelines established in other 
capital plans. 
 

                                                           
3
 Statistics Canada, 2013.  Surrey Census Profile.  http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-

pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CSD&Code1=5915004&Geo2=CD&Code2=5915&Data=Count&SearchTex
t=Surrey&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=59&B1=All&Custom=&TABID=1  
4
 City of Surrey, 2013.  PlanSurrey2013, Planning Context. http://www.surrey.ca/city-services/1318.aspx    

5
 City of Portland, 2013.  Planning and Sustainability, What We do.  http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/50531  

6
 City of Portland, 2011.  City of Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability, 2011 – 2013 Strategic Plan.  

http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/article/336131  
7
 City of Kelowna, 2012.  My Downtown.  

http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs//Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-
28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf  
8
 City of Kelowna, April 15, 2013.  Downtown Plan Annual Update, Report to Council. 

9
 City of Kelowna, 2012.  My Downtown.  

http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs//Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-
28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf  

103

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CSD&Code1=5915004&Geo2=CD&Code2=5915&Data=Count&SearchText=Surrey&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=59&B1=All&Custom=&TABID=1
http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CSD&Code1=5915004&Geo2=CD&Code2=5915&Data=Count&SearchText=Surrey&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=59&B1=All&Custom=&TABID=1
http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CSD&Code1=5915004&Geo2=CD&Code2=5915&Data=Count&SearchText=Surrey&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=59&B1=All&Custom=&TABID=1
http://www.surrey.ca/city-services/1318.aspx
http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/50531
http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/article/336131
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Strategic%20Planning/Downtown_Plan/2012-02-28_Downtown_Plan_Report_FINAL.pdf


The success of implementation of planning initiatives often is 
due to the engagement of the public in building the plans.  
Community planning needs to be seen as “a process for local 
government to engage their citizens and others in order to 
establish a vision, goals and policies for achieving social, 

economic and environmental sustainability.10”  
 
Whether initiated by staff or by development applicants, 
consultation during the planning process provides multiple benefits.  If done effectively, 
consultation helps: 

 Community leaders and decision makers, such as local councillors, understand the 
perspectives, opinions and concerns of the citizens and stakeholders they represent; 

 Strengthen networks and build cooperative and trusting relationships between public 
service sector organizations, community groups and organizations, and businesses; 

 Overcome polarization and reducing conflict, and establishing an environment where 
the public’s opinions are valued and respected; and 

 Potentially promote civic capacity through greater public understanding of and 
participation in political practices and civic affairs, and build community capacity.11 

 Empower residents to influence change to shape the future of the plan area. 
 
Ultimately, consultation ensures community buy-in and a smoother process for Public 
Hearings for development Proposals.   
 
To ensure public consultation and engagement is done effectively, Communications has 
developed resources for staff to help develop and implement appropriate, timely and 
effective public engagement strategies and tactics. 
 

 

                                                           
10

 Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, 2013.  Community Planning.  
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/community_planning.htm 
11

 Chuong, K., Maksimowski, S., Marini, M., and Walton,K., 2012.  Report for the City of Guelph: Community 
Engagement Policies in National and International Municipalities.  http://guelph.ca/wp-
content/uploads/Report_CommunityEngagementPoliciesinNationalandInternationalMunicipalities.pdf  

 

Cities have the capability 
of providing something for 
everybody, only because, 
and only when, they are 
created by everybody.” 

 

 Jane Jacobs 

 

104

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/community_planning.htm
http://guelph.ca/wp-content/uploads/Report_CommunityEngagementPoliciesinNationalandInternationalMunicipalities.pdf
http://guelph.ca/wp-content/uploads/Report_CommunityEngagementPoliciesinNationalandInternationalMunicipalities.pdf
http://www.goodreads.com/author/show/17285.Jane_Jacobs


1.       Infrastructure System Master Plans include: Transportation; Utilities (4); Parks; Facilities; Fleet; and Demand Management
6.       Asset Management Plan includes: Transportation; Utilities (4); Parks, Facilities; Fleet; and Level of Service / Risk
7.       Regional Plans include: Air Quality Management Plan; Transportation Plan; Transit Plan
8.       Long Term Capital Plan & Financing Strategy includes: Major Parks; Major Buildings; Capital Standards & Level of Service Criteria; and Utility Rate Bylaws
11.   Official Community Plan includes: Policy Review; Projections; Land Use Review; Development Permit Review; Public Consultation; and Mapping
12.   20 Year Servicing Plan includes: Transportation; Utilities; Parks; Development Cost Charges; and Public Consultation

Note:  Numbers provide the link to the project details outlined in the Planning Cycle spreadsheet.

10.  Community Strategic Plan

Years 1 - 3 Years 4-5 Year 6

Year 7

1.  Infrastructure System Master Plans

2.  Corporate Environmental Plan

9 Year Project Cycle

9.  Community Wildfire Protection Plan3.  Cultural Plan

4.  Recreation Master Plan

Year 5

8.  Long Term Capital Plan 
& Financing Strategy

13.  Corporate Strategic Plan

14.  Airport Master Plan

15.  Communication Strategy

16.  Fire Department Strategic 
Plan

17.  Other Dept. Strategic Plans

Cycle
Year
1 2021, 2030, etc.
2 2022, 2031, etc.
3 - Election 2023, 2032, etc.
4 2024, 2033, etc.
5 2025, 2034, etc.
6 - Election 2017 ,2026, 2035, etc.
7 2018 ,2027, 2036, etc.
8 2019 ,2028, 2037, etc.
9 - Election 2020 ,2029, 2038, etc.

Years 6-8

11.  Official Community Plan

12.  20 Year Servicing Plan

Years 8-9

18.  Zoning & Sign Bylaw Review

19.  Subdivision, 
Development & Servicing 
Bylaw Review

Years 1 - 5

7.  Regional Plans

Years 1 - 9

6.  Asset Management Plan

Projects outlined are 
inter-departmental and 

of recurring need.

5.  Long-Term Growth Forecasts

Project Planning Cycle

Revised: February 20, 2012

105



APPENDIX B:  Legislation and the Hierarchy of Plans 
 
Community planning and subsequent implementation is legislated through the Provincial 
government Local Government Act and Community Charter and illustrated in the flow chart 
below.   
 

Land Title 

Act

BC 

Building 

Code

RDCO

Regional Growth 

Strategy (RGS)

Zoning 

Bylaw

Subdivision, 

Development 

and Servicing 

Bylaw

Development 

Permit (DP)

Building 

Permit 

(BP)

IMPLEMENTATION

Sector Plans

Area Structure 

Plans (ASP)

Area 

Redevelopment 

Plans (ARP)

Thematic Plans

Area Specific 

Plans

Province of BC

Community Charter

Local Government Act

City of Kelowna

Official Community Plan (OCP)

20 Year Servicing Plan and 

Financing Strategy

 
At the provincial level, the Community Charter establishes a set of provincial – municipal 
relations.  The Local Government Act (LGA) government establishes the basic purposes of 
local government while providing the principles that guide the relationships between local 
government and the province.1 
 

                                                           
1
 Ministry of Municipal Affairs.  Municipalities and the New Local Government Act.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/policy_research/library/lga_guide_municipal.pdf 

106

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/policy_research/library/lga_guide_municipal.pdf


At a regional level, the LGA provides the authority for the creation of a Regional Growth 
Strategy.  This strategy provides the long range planning direction for regional district and 
municipal official community plans (OCPs) and provides a basis for decisions regarding 
implementation of provincial programs in the area.2   
 
At a municipal level, the Local Government Act allows for the creation of community plans 
that can be directed at the community as a whole, specific neighbourhoods or individual 
properties.  The Corporate Plan’s Planning Project Timeline links the preparation and/or 
updating of major recurring interdepartmental plans such as the OCP, Community Strategic 
Plan and other plans into a multi-year timeline to ensure resources are budgeted and timely 
completion of projects.  Council Policy 247: Hierarchy of Plans establishes the hierarchy of 
planning documents as well as outlines the level of detail expected within each planning 
document.3 The policy establishes the following hierarchy: 

 Official Community Plan (OCP) - is a statement of goals and policies that provides an 
overall framework for decisions, over a period of five more years, on a range of areas 
relating to local governance such as planning, land-use, housing, building and other 
development, social policies and programs, environmental conservation, and 
neighborhood character.  An OCP deals with issues expected to arise over the coming 
twenty-year period. These plans are typically reviewed/refined every five years to 
ensure that the OCP continues to meet community needs. 

 Sector Plans - are undertaken for large areas of the City, which may contain portions 
of developed and undeveloped land.  The Sector Plan will work towards those 
objectives and policies stated in the OCP. 

 Area Structure Plans (ASP) - are prepared by an individual land owner or owners of 
the majority of land for areas identified in the Official Community Plan as ASP areas. 

 Area Redevelopment Plans (ARP) - are undertaken for developed areas of the City 
where there are existing services and the area is experiencing pressures for re-
development or infill development that would significantly increase building height or 
density beyond existing zoning. An ARP works towards those objectives and policies 
stated in the Official Community Plan. 

 
Official Community Plans (OCPs) shape the way our communities are built. An OCP is a 
statement of goals and policies that provides an overall framework for decisions, over a 
period of five more years, on a range of areas relating to local governance such as planning, 
land-use, housing, building and other development, social policies and programs, 
environmental conservation, and neighborhood character. Sector Plans, ASPs and ARPs build 
on the OCP through providing more detailed guidance in smaller areas of the City. 
 
The Zoning Bylaw puts the vision of the Official Community Plan into practical, legalistic 
terms.4  While the Subdivision and Servicing Bylaw regulates the works and services that are 

                                                           
2
 Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, 2013.  Regional Growth Strategies.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/growth_strategies.htm  
3
 City of Kelowna, 2011.  Council Policy 247: Hierarchy of Plans.  

http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Pla
ns%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf  
4
 Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, 2013.  Zoning.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/zoning.htm  

107

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/official_community_plans.htm
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/official_community_plans.htm
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/growth_strategies.htm
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Plans%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf
http://www.kelowna.ca/CityPage/Docs/PDFs/Council%5CPolicies/Hierarchy%20of%20Plans%2C%20Sector%20Plans%2C%20Structure%20Plans%2C%20Redevelopment%20Plans%20-%20Policy%20247.pdf
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/zoning.htm


required as part of the subdivision of land5 according to the various zones.  The LGA also also 
allows for the designation of Development Permit Areas (DPAs) through the OCP process. 
Development Permits (DP) must be obtained outlining how development meets the guidelines 
and objectives of the DPA.   
 
The Local Government Act also allows for a variety of non-legislative planning methods which 
can be directed at particular sectors such as such as economic development, social 
development, housing, parks, or environmental management.6 

 

                                                           
5
 Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, 2013.  Subdivision Servicing Bylaw.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/subdivision_approval.htm 
6
 Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development, 2013.  Community Planning.  

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/community_planning.htm 

108

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/policy_research/economic_development.htm
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/housing.htm
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/subdivision_approval.htm
http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/planning/community_planning.htm


P R I O R I T I Z AT I O N  O F  
C O M M U N I T Y  P L A N N I N G  
D O C U M E N T S  

109



W H Y  P L A N N I N G ?  

Responsible community planning ensures: 
Economic stability and opportunities 
Areas for infrastructure investment 
Stability in land use 
Compatible interfaces 
Improved performance 
Protected resources 
Coordinated future development 
Orderly growth 
A community envisioned by its citizens 

110



111

http://pricetags.files.wordpress.com/2010/11/arterial.jpg�


112



L O C A L  S U C C E S S E S :  T H E  D O W N TO W N  
P L A N  

Revitalization of 
Bernard 
Interior Health 
Relocation Project 
Worman 
Commercial 
Building 
Monaco 
Development 
 
 113



L E G I S L AT I O N  &  P L A N  H I E R A R C H Y   

Land Title Act BC Building Code

RDCO

Regional Growth 

Strategy (RGS)

Zoning Bylaw

Subdivision, Development 

and Servicing Bylaw

Development 

Permit (DP)

Building Permit 

(BP)

Sector Plans

Area Structure Plans 

(ASP)

Area Redevelopment 

Plans (ARP)

Thematic Plans

Area Specific Plans

IMPLEMENTATION

Province of BC

Community Charter

Local Government Act

City of Kelowna

Official Community Plan (OCP)

20 Year Servicing Plan and Financing Strategy

114



C O R P O R AT E  P L A N :  P L A N N I N G  P R O J E C T  
T I M E L I N E  

115



P R O J E C T  P R I O R I T I Z AT I O N  M AT R I X  

EVALUATION CONSIDERATION MAXIMUM POINTS 

Total number of population affected 10 

Implementation of OCP Goals 15 

Execution of Council priorities 10 

Implementation of Corporate values 10 

Ability to guide development and infrastructure decisions in 
response to the multiple bottom line 

25 

External Considerations (ie. Legislative requirements, 
partnership responsiveness 

5 

Responsiveness to New and Emerging Issues 15 

Cost Effectiveness 10 

TOTAL 100 
116



R E C O M M E N D E D  2 0 1 4  P R O J E C T  
I M P L E M E N TAT I O N  

 
Rutland Renaissance  
Hospital Phase 1 
Hospital Phase 2 
Community Amenities 

 
Capri  
Downtown/Cultural Area 
Redevelopment Plan 
North End / Industrial 
Okanagan Indian Band 

Recommended to begin 
implementation on these 

projects 

Projects will be considered 
as resources become 

available 
 

117


	Agenda
	2. Minutes - Regular AM Council Meeting_Dec9_2013.docx
	3.1 2013-12-16 Report - Arab Appaloosa Land Use and Servicing Options.docx
	3.1 2013-12-16 Presentation - Appaloosa Area.pdf
	3.2 2013-12-16 Report - RDCO Referral  RGS.docx
	3.2 2013-10-30 Attachment 1 - CORD Submission Letter.pdf
	3.2 2013-10-30 Attachment 2 - RGS Bylaw - Schedule A.pdf
	3.2 2013-12-16 Attachment 3 - RGS Referral.docx
	3.2 2013-12-16 Attachment 4 - Municipal Responsibilities.docx
	3.2 2013-12-16 Attachment 5 - New Projects.docx
	3.3 2013-12-16 Report - Project Prioritization and Planning Background.docx
	3.3 2013-12-16  Appendix A - Role of Planning.docx
	3.3 2013-12-16 Appendix B - Planning Project Cycle.pdf
	3.3 2013-12-16 Appendix C - Hierarchy.docx
	3.3 2013-12-16 Presentation - Prioritization of Community Planning Documents.pdf

